

Review of population estimates and projections produced by the Office for National Statistics

May 2021

Contents

The role of the Office for Statistics Regulation

Foreword	4
Executive summary	5
Introduction	7
Scope of this review	7
The statistics	7
Wider Context	8
What we found	9
Quality	9
Value	16
Trustworthiness	18
Summary of recommendations	19
Next steps	21
Annex A – User engagement	22

The role of the Office for Statistics Regulation

As an independent UK-wide regulator, we are in a unique position to take a broader look at issues of importance to society and to make the case for improved statistics across organisation and Government boundaries. This is supported by our ability to convene, influence and highlight best practice from other sectors.

This review forms part of our programme of systemic reviews which, underpinned by the <u>Code of Practice for Statistics</u>, are aimed at driving improvements in the public value provided by official statistics.

We want to ensure that statistics provide a robust evidence base for national and local policy development and decision making. We champion the need for statistics to support a much wider range of uses, including, by charities, community groups and individuals. They should allow individuals and organisations to reach informed decisions, answer important questions, make the case for change or hold government to account.

Foreword

Estimating the UK's population is not straightforward. It involves taking the figures from the last Census, and updating them for births, deaths, and migration. At the local level, there are complicating factors because the migration that is of interest is not just of people leaving the UK or coming to the UK, but also people moving from one place to another inside the country.

So ONS's population estimates are challenging to produce, relying on a range of assumptions about how people move into, from and within the UK.

The ONS's population estimates are also important. They provide insight into the size and location of the UK's population – important in itself; but the estimates also feed into a range of other data sets, like household projections – and these in turn inform important operational and policy decisions.

In the light of these two characteristics of difficulty and importance, we conducted our review to consider whether ONS's estimates and projections can always bear the weight that is put on them.

We found that ONS is taking a sensible approach, particularly at the national level, drawing on its own expertise and that of external experts. It conducts a very wide range of engagement activities to keep users informed about the statistics. The estimates are highly regarded, but there is a risk that ONS misses the bigger picture of what the population data inform and is not regularly sense checking what it does against local insight. Part of this sense checking involves drawing on the challenges from users in different parts of the country – in effect, for ONS to be open to the insights that come from people who say "those figures don't reconcile with what we see in our area". That is not to say that the insight should be taken without question. We are simply urging a creative conversation that regards this sort of feedback as useful intelligence to help sense check and quality assure the ONS estimates.

In short, then, we conclude in this review that ONS needs to build on what it does already and enhance its approach in three ways: improve methods; enhance communication; and embrace challenge.

Bl Haften

Ed Humpherson Director General for Regulation

Executive summary

Introduction

- ES.1 Our review was initiated in response to concerns raised with us in November 2020 regarding the population projections and mid-year population estimates for Coventry. The concerns were around the perceived inaccuracies of the population estimates on which the household projections and subsequent housing need are based.
- ES.2 The population estimates and projections are important data with implications for many other statistics and which influence decision making by individuals, national and local governments. The projections feed into local planning decisions which can have a long-term commitment and therefore the impact of issues can have far reaching consequences.
- ES.3 It is not within our remit to regulate operational decisions made by government or local authorities, nor to form a judgement on decisions about government policy. Our review focused on the population estimates and projections in the context of the principles in the Code of Practice for Statistics.

What we found

- ES.4 ONS collaborates with a range of experts to determine the methods, data and assumptions which underpin the population estimates and projections. Its approach is generally seen as fit for purpose and is highly regarded internationally. One area of challenge has been migration, where there are limitations in the data available. ONS has sought to address this challenge by introducing some methodological fixes, such as the way students leaving university are identified. However, more needs to be done to investigate the root and scale of the issue associated with students and outward migration.
- ES.5 ONS has a number of methods for quality assuring the statistics, including deep dives, triangulation of data it holds and comparisons against historic data. ONS developed a range of variant projections to cater for the different uses of the data. We recommend that ONS develops case studies of how these variants are being used in practice to support their use more widely, as some users were unclear on which variants would best cater to their needs.
- ES.6 ONS engages regularly with experts, academia, and other users, and participates in relevant events and conferences. We found that while ONS is good at sharing its work outwardly, there is room for improvement in the way it takes on board feedback and handles challenge. We would like to see ONS be more open and responsive to issues when they first arise and view challenge as an opportunity to improve outputs and not a criticism of its approach. We recognise that ONS is balancing competing priorities, but a more open and constructive approach to responding to user feedback would create opportunities for ONS to continually improve the population estimates and projections, and ensure users feel listened to.

Recommendations

ES.7 We have identified a number of actions for ONS to take in response to our findings. These are provided in more detail later in this report and are summarised below.

Improving methods

- ONS needs to investigate the root and scale of the issue associated with cities with large student populations and communicate its findings publicly, to support the appropriate use of the existing data.
- ONS needs to integrate a more flexible and responsive approach to methodological changes in its design for admin-based population estimates, working with its external partners, so that improvements are more timely.
- ONS should collaborate with others to incorporate local insight and carry out sensitivity analysis to enhance its approach to quality assurance.

Enhancing communication

- ONS should be open with users about its short-term solution to bridge the gap of migration data until the administrative data alternative is fit for purpose and ready to use.
- ONS should provide more specific guidance on interpreting the levels of uncertainty associated with the population estimates and projections, to help support the appropriate use of the statistics.
- ONS should develop case studies of where the variant projections have been used in practice and beneficial to users, to support their use more widely.

Embracing challenge

- ONS should take a more open and constructive approach to responding to user feedback, by improving its complaints procedure and viewing challenge as an opportunity to improve the statistics and outputs.
- ONS should collaborate with experts to frame the statistics for different audiences and scenarios.

Next steps

- ES.8 We expect ONS to reflect on our findings when developing its new adminbased approach to population estimates and projections. ONS should report back to us in July 2021 with its plans for addressing our recommendations. Further check points to discuss progress against plans will be arranged in the second half of the year.
- ES.9 To support the delivery of the recommendations, ONS should focus on determining whether the issues raised here have an impact on other official statistics. We would encourage ONS to engage with the devolved administrations, through its existing working level partnerships, to assess how the issues concerning students and emigration may impact their estimates and projections.

Introduction

Scope of this review

- 1.1 Our review was initiated in response to concerns raised with us in November 2020 regarding the population projections and mid-year population estimates for Coventry. The concerns were around the perceived inaccuracies of the population estimates on which the household projections and subsequent housing need are based. Upon announcing our review, we received further concerns from a number of other areas with related concerns.
- 1.2 While we investigated the concerns raised with us as part of our review, we also considered whether the methods and approaches are as good as they can be, and to what extent the estimates and projections can bear the weight put on them where they are used in decision making, in line with the principles set out in the <u>Code of Practice for Statistics</u>. It is not within our remit to regulate operational decisions made by government or local authorities, nor to form a judgement on decisions about government policy.
- 1.3 Our review is based on <u>national and subnational mid-year population</u> <u>estimates for England</u> and the biennial <u>national</u> and <u>subnational population</u> <u>projections for England</u>.
- 1.4 Some of the concerns we received related to the way population estimates feed into the household projections from which housing need is determined. We took the decision to focus our review on population estimates and projections, as an underlying source for household projections, to understand in the first instance whether the concerns raised with us affect other areas or other policies beyond house building.
- 1.5 To inform our review, we carried out interviews and focus groups with individuals with an interest in or experience using population estimates and projections. This approach ensured that we obtained the views of a wide range of users from differing backgrounds. These meetings took place between February and March 2021. A list of users we engaged with is provided in Annex A.

The statistics

- 1.6 The population estimates and projections are important data with implications for many other statistics as they are used for weighting or as a denominator. For example, labour market statistics are based on sample surveys that use the population estimates to be scaled up for the population. The projections feed into local planning decisions which can have a long-term commitment and therefore the impact of issues can have far reaching consequences.
- 1.7 The population estimates and projections for England and Wales, at national and subnational levels, are a long-standing set of data produced by ONS. The subnational mid-year population estimates for England and Wales are calculated first and the national estimates are produced by aggregating the

subnational estimates. The estimates are produced annually in June and are initially rebased following a census year and then the component parts of births, deaths and migration are rolled forward each year by applying <u>the cohort component methodology</u>.

1.8 The population estimates then act as the starting population for producing the population projections. Projections for successive years are produced by taking the starting population for each age and then accounting for net migration, births and deaths for each onward year projected. Again, the subnational population projections take the mid-year population estimates as the starting point and for the principal projection, data for the preceding five years are used. The principal projection is the headline figure presented in the main statistical bulletin and analysis. ONS also produces several variant projections which are based on differing underlying assumptions to the principal projection. The projections based on these trends are then constrained to the totals used in the principal population projections for England.

Wider Context

- 1.9 In March 2014, the <u>National Statistician recommended</u> that the census in 2021 should be predominantly online, making increased use of administrative data and surveys to both enhance the statistics from the 2021 Census and improve statistics between censuses. The government's response to this recommendation was an ambition that censuses after 2021 will be conducted using other sources of data. In 2023, ONS plans to present its recommendations to government as to the future of census arrangements, in the light of the progress that has been made in switching to an <u>Administrative Data Census</u>.
- 1.10 As part of this ambition for an admin-based approach, the ONS has been working to transform its population and migration statistics more broadly. The current population system is heavily reliant on the decennial census which affects the quality of population estimates as we move further away from the census year. Using its data-sharing powers through the Digital Economy Act 2017, ONS has been progressing research into how it can bring a range of government data sources together to build an integrated system for measuring population and migration.
- 1.11 This report has been completed within this period of change and development for ONS, with the timing also coinciding with the Census in England and Wales. The 2021 Census will provide ONS with a refreshed foundation to estimate from and may lead to some estimates from the past decade being rebased. As such, our recommendations have been written with a forward look. ONS should consider our findings in respect of its plans for future migration and population statistics and consider if our findings around its approach to user engagement and feedback may have a wider impact across ONS as a whole.

What we found

Quality

ONS takes a sensible approach to measuring the population

- 2.1 The methodology documents published by ONS on the population estimates and projections, at both the national and subnational levels, are very detailed and informative. They include information on how the estimates and projections are derived and record any changes that have been made to the methodologies. The impact of these and details of data sources used for quality assurance purposes are also documented.
- 2.2 At the national level, we consider the approach taken by ONS to produce population estimates and projections is fit for purpose. The choice of methods, data and assumptions has been supported by expert advice from demography and academic partners. The methods are viewed by demographers and statisticians as strong internationally and ONS is seen as being at the forefront of addressing the complex challenge of measuring the population, in the absence of a national identification register.
- 2.3 At the subnational level, it is widely understood by users that the accuracy of the estimates will be variable due to factors such as the size and mobility of the population in a given area. We found that in some smaller cities that had a large student population, the population estimates did appear to be inconsistent with, and potentially higher than, local evidence suggests. ONS's population estimates team recognises that areas with high population churn are harder to estimate and it has introduced a number of methodological changes, which are detailed later in this report, aimed at mitigating this issue. However, these fixes do not appear to have fully addressed the perceived overestimation of these groups in some areas.
- 2.4 The mid-year population estimates (MYE) are produced annually and the population projections once every two years. Following each decennial Census, the estimates are rebased to be in line with the Census population estimates so at this point they are at their most reliable. Each year thereafter, the cohort component method is applied to roll forward the estimates, taking account of the three base components of births, deaths and migration. Whilst the Census provides the most complete data on the population, the timeliness of the data affects the quality of estimates in the interim years and there are known coverage issues for some groups such as young men and those in houses of multiple occupancy.
- 2.5 ONS works with expert partners to review and update the assumptions which underpin the methods used to produce the population estimates and projections. Where assumptions are made based on historic trends which do not reflect current behaviour, there is a risk that ONS builds in systematic bias by carrying through an error into the rolled forward estimates and then subsequently the projections, which compounds the effect of the error. For

example, where the female student population in an area is over-estimated, as this group is of child-bearing age, the rolled forward estimates will impact the fertility rate which further exacerbates the issue.

- 2.6 To ensure future population statistics are based on sound methods and suitable data, ONS's population estimates and projections team needs to:
 - a. Investigate the root and scale of the issue associated with cities with large student populations and communicate its findings publicly, to support the appropriate use of the existing data.
 - b. Use its partnerships with experts to discuss the evidence provided to OSR in the review concerning the impact of assumptions being rolled forward.
 - c. Assure itself and others that concerns raised regarding the current methods are considered throughout the development of its admin-based population estimates.

ONS has introduced a number of methodological fixes but the impact of these changes is still unclear

- 2.7 ONS's population estimates and projections team has tried to address some of the methodological challenges it faces in relation to the migration component that feeds into the population estimates, despite it being no easy feat. For example, it introduced the <u>Higher Education Leavers</u> <u>Methodology</u> (HELM) to improve estimating the internal movement of students on leaving university and a change in the modelling approach for estimating international outward migration. When the results from the 2021 Census are available, ONS can assess the impact of the steps it has taken.
- 2.8 Whenever ONS has made these changes, it has carried out a range of user engagement activities to test the approach with users. For example, it has previously run touring roadshows in an effort to talk directly to users and experts. Some users told us that previous fixes that have been made to the methodology have had unintended consequences on other areas. For example, a fix introduced for international migrants arriving in London who were previously being recorded in Westminster rather than the borough they intended to stay in, appears to have led to errors in the way international migrants are recorded elsewhere.
- 2.9 ONS told us it does consider whether there are systematic issues when it receives complaints but that it is hard to see if the impact is likely to be temporary until a few years down in the line. Though it does not have a specific rule regarding the number of changes it makes, ONS told us that it aims to limit methodological changes to once per decade to prevent disrupting the time series. Whilst we understand that it would not be sensible to have too frequent changes to the methods underpinning the estimates and projections, ONS has a responsibility to prevent systematic bias being built into the

statistics and should have a more flexible approach to addressing issues where the impact is felt across a number of areas and over time.

- 2.10 The pandemic has <u>sharpened the focus</u> on the definitions of migration and population in these statistics, and what the population estimates and projections were designed to do. The definitions are premised on stability which has raised questions about whether they are fit for purpose in this period.
- 2.11 The pandemic and the UK's departure from the EU have both caused shocks to migration patterns in the UK. It is difficult to unpick how these shocks interplay in the data and to what extent they have individually impacted migration behaviour. The standard cohort component methodology is designed around stability but doesn't deal well with shocks to the system. ONS has been exploring this issue and is looking to communicate its work in this area with users to draw out the insights from how our understanding of population has changed during the pandemic.

2.12 To enhance the transparency of developments concerning the quality of the statistics, ONS should:

- a. Integrate a more flexible and responsive approach to methodological changes in its design for admin-based population estimates. While we appreciate that there should not be adjustments made in response to every concern raised, ONS's population estimates and projections team should work with its partners in local government, academia and across the devolved nations, so that changes are implemented in a more timely way.
- b. Share the insights it has gathered from the work it is doing to understand the changing nature of migration and population, as part of its transformation programme, so that users' views inform the way this work is taken forward.

Migration data continues to be a challenge for ONS

- 2.13 We found that users generally had no issues with the source data used for births and deaths which feeds into the population estimates. However, there were some strong concerns expressed about the potential bias in the emigration data for some groups, such as international students, that are hard to count.
- 2.14 The accuracy in the internal migration (i.e. movement within England) component of the estimates can be problematic as it is largely dependent on General Practice (GP) registration data which is known to suffer from data quality issues. For students and young professionals in particular, they may not re-register with a new GP when moving to a new area until they need to use its services, or they may not re-register at all. Some individuals may also choose to register with a GP close to their work rather than their home.
- 2.15 The international migration component that feeds into the population estimates has been predominantly based on ONS data derived from the

International Passenger Survey (IPS) with additional input from administrative sources. ONS has acknowledged the limitations and weaknesses of using IPS data for international migration and continues to work to develop new and exploratory methods and data solutions to improve these statistics. This work has been expedited as the IPS was suspended in March 2020 as a result of the pandemic and no long-term migration estimates have been produced since the last publication covering long-term migration in the year ending March 2020.

- 2.16 International outward migration has historically been hard to estimate as there are few and only partial data sources which do not provide a complete picture. ONS's population estimates and projections team takes a modelling approach to estimating emigration but the outflow of people is more uncertain. This creates issues for capturing international students who return home after their studies.
- 2.17 ONS is taking a joined-up approach to tackling the challenges in measuring migration, population and the labour market during the COVID-19 pandemic. It outlined its approach to overcoming these challenges in a <u>blog</u> to inform users about its plans. As part of its longer-term transformation programme, ONS is looking to make greater use of administrative data to enhance these statistics but there is no quick solution to addressing this data gap. The pandemic has also created a greater time lag for some of the administrative datasets that it was intending to use for measuring migration, which were already lagged due to the nature of measuring long-term migration, and it is now exploring greater use of modelled estimates and nowcasting for migration data.
- 2.18 We are pleased to see that ONS has recently published several updates about the progress of this work, including the development of <u>admin-based</u> <u>estimates</u> and its <u>statistical modelling approach</u>. It is positive to see ONS share its thinking and it should continue to communicate its progress in overcoming the challenges with migration data, particularly around international outward migration.
- 2.19 As ONS continues to develop its long-term plans for the future of migration data, ONS's migration team should be open with users about its short-term solution to bridge the gap of migration data until the administrative data alternative is fit for purpose and ready to use.

ONS could think more creatively about its approach to quality assurance

2.20 ONS has processes in place to quality assure the data and methods used to produce the population estimates and projections. This often involves ONS's population estimates and projections team triangulating data it holds and making comparisons against previous trends. ONS receives advice from a panel of experts in the fields of fertility, mortality and migration, which helps it determine the underlying assumptions. ONS also publishes an <u>interactive mapping tool</u> to allow users to compare subnational population projections (SNPP) with other areas and projections.

- 2.21 The team in ONS carries out 'deep dives' into areas which have counter intuitive results and will use external sources to investigate the issue. For example, it sometimes uses Google Maps to look at changing street pictures or data from the <u>Higher Education Statistics Agency</u> (HESA) to look at changes in student numbers in a given area.
- 2.22 Although ONS does look to triangulate data sources to quality assure the estimates or to investigate issues, we found that it could be more open to local sources of information where it overwhelmingly disputes the population estimates. We acknowledge that it is not practical for ONS to do this for all areas and that one source of information will not provide a complete picture for an area. However, where substantial local evidence points to a trend contrary to the population estimates, this should be investigated as a priority during the quality assurance process.
- 2.23 The systems which ONS is working with enable it to carry out sensitivity analysis. We found that the <u>Greater London Authority</u> (GLA), who conduct their own analysis of population estimates and projections, make good use of sensitivity analysis to understand the impact of different assumptions and scenarios and publish the results. We would encourage ONS to enhance its approach to quality assurance by carrying out and publishing relevant sensitivity analysis.
- 2.24 To enhance its approach to quality assurance, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:
 - a. Collaborate with others to learn from best practice for example learning from demographers and the Greater London Authority who produce their own estimates and projections.
 - b. Incorporate local insight and evidence as part of its deep dives and investigations into issues.
 - c. Run sensitivity analyses to accompany the existing estimates and explain to users how these analyses should be interpreted.

ONS has taken steps to communicate uncertainty

- 2.25 ONS's population estimates and projections team has made a concerted effort to communicate the statistical uncertainty of the population estimates and projections, including presenting confidence intervals and caveats. It also publishes a range of variant projections, which are explained in more detail in the next section of this report, to provide an indication of the 'fan of uncertainty' around its assumption setting.
- 2.26 Despite this, the language used to describe the statistics, for example 'the number of women **has** increased by' rather than 'is **estimated to have** increased by', and lack of rounding in the figures implies a precision that doesn't exist and can therefore be interpreted as an exact figure rather than a central estimate.

- 2.27 We found that ONS could do more to interpret the uncertainty for nonanalytical users to highlight the robustness of the data for practical uses. For the projections in particular, there should be clearer guidance on the uncertainty or 'shelf-life' of different length trajectories so that decision makers can determine the appropriate projections to use to inform longer term strategies.
- 2.28 The effects of the pandemic and the UK's departure from the European Union are challenging for population statistics. ONS's population estimates and projections team is currently collaborating with international colleagues to share insights and explore the best way forward in dealing with these challenges.

2.29 To support users' understanding of the uncertainty associated with these statistics, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:

- a. Research and implement additional ways to communicate the uncertainty around the population estimates and projections, beyond the use of confidence intervals and variant projections.
- b. Provide more specific guidance on interpreting the levels of uncertainty associated with the statistics, to help users understand the appropriate use of the statistics for short-term planning compared with longer-term planning.

ONS produces a range of variant projections to meet the range of user needs for population projections

- 2.30 ONS produces a range of variant population projections in addition to the principial projections. These variant projections are based on different assumptions of future fertility, mortality and migration which users find helpful as it allows them to select the projection which most suits their needs for the context which they are working in. These variants also provide projections which are based on different lengths of historic data so that users can benefit from the trend length which suits their purposes for the projections.
- 2.31 ONS's recent publication on <u>Early Indicators of UK Population</u> gave more prominence to the effects of applying different migration variant projections in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. This was a useful way of presenting and communicating the different scenarios to users.
- 2.32 For the internal (within-England) migration component needed for the SNPPs, the variants are also based on the number of years used for the base period. Previously, ONS used the latest five years of records as the basis for its principal projection but changed in the most recent projections to the latest two years of data and also released a 5-year and a 10-year-based alternative. To illustrate, a projection that has been produced using 5 years of past trend data will be less suitable for making planning decisions for the forthcoming 15 to 25 years than one that has 10 years or even 25 years of historical trend. The more years of past trend data that are included, the more stable the

projection for future local planning needs. However, there will be other situations where a projection based on 5 years of past data will be suitable.

- 2.33 The pros and cons of switching from a 5-year to 2-year base for the principal projections are likely to vary depending on the use to which they are put. ONS suggested that the latest 2 years might better represent the future as the latest methodological changes are included but suggest that users should refer to the variants if this was felt not to be the case.
- 2.34 ONS's population estimates and projections team told us that its approach to producing the variant projections is customer led and the team offers advice on how to use them. While users we spoke to told us that they find the subnational variant projections useful, we found that those involved in local planning decisions lack the confidence to use the variant projections as they are not seen as carrying the same weight as the principal projection. At the Local Authority level, the process for using the SNPPs is built around using the principal projection. There is also a reluctance to use the variant projection estimates, for example the overestimation of students, as this can lead to the variant projections presenting implausible scenarios.
- 2.35 Some users also told us that it would be beneficial to have projections which are based on more than 10 years' worth of data, as some government departments deliver projects with up to 25-year timescales that would benefit from a longer trajectory for example transport planning.
- 2.36 ONS has recently announced its <u>plans for 2020-based interim national</u> <u>population projections (NPPs)</u> following a consultation to assess user need. The UK Census Committee (UKCC) decided that, in order to meet user needs identified through this consultation and to support the forthcoming State Pension Age Review, a principal national population projection only will be published for each UK constituent country and for the UK as a whole, with no variant projections.
- 2.37 The feedback from users particularly on variants will be valuable beyond decision making for the 2020-based NPPs and ONS should consider how it feeds these through to its plans for future developments.
- 2.38 To maximise the use of the variant projections, ONS's population estimates and projections team should expand on the support it gives users to illustrate where the use of these alternative projections may be beneficial and develop case studies of where they have been used in practice.

Value

Users feel ONS's data cannot be challenged and ONS could be more open in its approach to responding to user feedback

- 2.39 ONS's population estimates and projections team engages regularly with experts in demography and subject matter experts for the components which underpin the population estimates. The team attends biannual Central and Local Information Partnership (CLIP) meetings with local authority users, and also engages with the UK Population Theme Advisory Board. The team remains alert to emerging interests through engagement with social media, newsletters and through participation at relevant population statistics events and conferences such as those run by the British Society of Population Studies.
- 2.40 ONS has convened several user groups for migration statistics, including an expert group made up of key technical experts in the migration field, and a Government Statistical Service steering group made up of senior representatives from relevant government departments. These groups provide ONS an opportunity to test its research, provide challenge and steer developments for migration statistics.
- 2.41 Where issues have been raised about the statistics, ONS has offered meetings with these users, to listen to their views and explain how the statistics are produced. It told us that it engages fully with all correspondence relating to complainants until the issues are resolved.
- 2.42 However, there seems to be a disconnect in how much ONS feels they have supported users and how well users feel listened to. We found that the way ONS engages can at times be perceived as ONS being selective in its choice of points to respond to and that the engagement can become closed if ONS feels it has already addressed the concerns elsewhere.
- 2.43 Users do not feel there is a reasonable process to challenge the estimates even when presenting local administrative data to illustrate their points. While we acknowledge the competing priorities that ONS must balance, inviting and responding to external scrutiny is an important way for ONS to improve its work. ONS could do more to involve local decision makers in the production of the statistics so that they can aid understanding and provide insight which may be useful for enhancing the methodology.

2.44 To ensure the statistics remain relevant to users, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:

a. Take a more open and constructive approach to responding to user feedback by improving its complaints procedure and viewing challenge as an opportunity to improve the statistics. A fully open approach will help ONS demonstrate its commitment to user engagement and ensure a range of perspectives are fed into the development of the statistics.

b. Reflect and learn from its experience of challenging user engagement and identify potential solutions and best practice from the <u>User Engagement Strategy for Statistics</u>.

ONS needs to be a vocal advocate of using these statistics appropriately to serve the public good

- 2.45 The population estimates are vital and have a very widespread use in non-Census years. They are used for weighting or as the denominator in the production of many other statistics, and they feed into the population projections that are in turn used for many aspects of local planning.
- 2.46 There is a potential risk to other statistics that use the population estimates if a systematic bias in the estimates (even if one segment of the population) is relevant for a particular topic area. A second issue comes from the nature of the method for disaggregating the national level to local areas, when the disaggregated data are constrained to match the national level, inherent biases in the data could lead to skewed local area data.
- 2.47 Where the estimates for some Local Authorities might not reflect the local situation well enough, it can have a knock-on effect well into the future. This issue is compounded by the fact that most planning policies are designed around having one figure to reflect need and do not take into account the uncertainty of that figure. We heard from users that there is a lack of analytical resource within most Local Authorities to question the figures and therefore the principal estimates and projections are interpreted as precise and not open to challenge. This can lead to local planning interventions being mismatched with local needs.
- 2.48 The population projections inform the household projections. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) made a policy decision to specify that Local Authorities use 2014 household projections as part of the standard method for calculating housing need, rather than the more recent 2018 household projections produced by ONS. This means any methodological changes made by ONS to improve the population estimates since 2014 are not reflected in the statistics which inform housing need. For some Local Authorities, this means the over-estimation of population in certain age groups is driving policy targets in a different direction to local priorities.
- 2.49 ONS produces statistics with integrity and impartiality, in line with the Code of Practice for Statistics. It is not the role of ONS to regulate how the statistics are used to inform policies, but it is its role to advocate for the appropriate use of the data. ONS must take responsibility for ensuring the strengths and limitations of the statistics can be appropriately understood by those who intend to use them, particularly where the use of the statistics may have significant long-term impacts on those affected by the policy. We recognise

that ultimately ONS cannot control the decisions of policy makers but ONS should be vocal in speaking up against those who choose not to use the most up to date and comprehensive figures, where there is not a reasonable argument for them to do so.

- 2.50 To increase the public value of these statistics and support their use, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:
 - a. Carry out user engagement to understand who is using the data and for what purposes. Through this, it should promote the appropriate use of the data.
 - b. Collaborate with experts to frame the statistics for different audiences and scenarios, presenting appropriate use cases of the data.

Trustworthiness

ONS is seen as a capable and informed statistics producer

- 2.51 ONS is seen as a credible and reliable statistics producer, whose methods are robust and highly regarded internationally. At the local authority level, this means the estimates are sometimes seen as "fact" rather than estimates, and the level of uncertainty associated with them is not sufficiently considered. This relates to our findings around the wider lack of understanding of how to interpret uncertainty.
- 2.52 ONS could be more transparent about its approach in dealing with challenge around the population estimates and projections, as we have set out earlier in this report.
- 2.53 We do not have any recommendations concerning the Trustworthiness pillar of the Code.

Summary of recommendations

- 3.1 We have identified a number of actions that we would like ONS to take in response to our findings. These are set out below.
- 3.2 To ensure future population statistics are based on sound methods and suitable data, ONS's population estimates and projections team needs to:
 - Investigate the root and scale of the issue associated with cities with large student populations and communicate its findings publicly, to support the appropriate use of the existing data.
 - Use its partnerships with experts to discuss the evidence provided to OSR in the review concerning the impact of assumptions being rolled forward.
 - Assure itself and others that concerns raised regarding the current methods are considered throughout the development of its adminbased population estimates.
- 3.3 To enhance the transparency of developments concerning the quality of the statistics, ONS should:
 - Integrate a more flexible and responsive approach to methodological changes in its design for admin-based population estimates. While we appreciate that there should not be adjustments made in response to every concern raised, ONS's population estimates and projections team should work with its partners in local government, academia and across the devolved nations, so that changes are implemented in a more timely way.
 - Share the insights it has gathered from the work it is doing to understand the changing nature of migration and population, as part of its transformation programme, so that users' views inform the way this work is taken forward.
- 3.4 As ONS continues to develop its long-term plans for the future of migration data, ONS's migration team should be open with users about its short-term solution to bridge the gap of migration data until the administrative data alternative is fit for purpose and ready to use.
- 3.5 To enhance its approach to quality assurance, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:
 - Collaborate with others to learn from best practice for example learning from demographers and the Greater London Authority who produce their own estimates and projections.
 - Incorporate local insight and evidence as part of its deep dives and investigations into issues.
 - Run sensitivity analyses to accompany the existing estimates and explain to users how these analyses should be interpreted.

- 3.6 To support users' understanding of the uncertainty associated with these statistics, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:
 - Research and implement additional ways to communicate the uncertainty around the population estimates and projections, beyond the use of confidence intervals and variant projections.
 - Provide more specific guidance on interpreting the levels of uncertainty associated with the statistics, to help users understand the appropriate use of the statistics for short-term planning compared with longer-term planning.
- 3.7 To maximise the use of the variant projections, ONS's population estimates and projections team should expand on the support it gives users to illustrate where the use of these alternative projections may be beneficial and develop case studies of where they have been used in practice.
- 3.8 To ensure the statistics remain relevant to users, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:
 - Take a more open and constructive approach to responding to user feedback by improving its complaints procedure and viewing challenge as an opportunity to improve the statistics and outputs. A fully open approach will help ONS demonstrate its commitment to user engagement and ensure a range of perspectives are fed into the development of the statistics.
 - Reflect and learn from its experience of challenging user engagement and identify potential solutions and best practice from the User Engagement Strategy for Statistics.
- 3.9 To increase the public value of these statistics and support their use, ONS's population estimates and projections team should:
 - Carry out user engagement to understand who is using the data and for what purposes. Through this, it should promote the appropriate use of the data.
 - Collaborate with experts to frame the statistics for different audiences and scenarios, presenting appropriate use cases of the data.

Next steps

- 4.1 We expect ONS to reflect on our findings when developing its new adminbased approach to population estimates and projections. ONS should report back to us in July 2021 with its plans for addressing our recommendations. Further check points to discuss progress against plans will be arranged in the second half of the year.
- 4.2 To support the delivery of the recommendations, ONS's population estimates and projections team should focus on determining whether the issues raised here have an impact on other official statistics. We would encourage ONS to engage with the devolved administrations, through its existing working level partnerships, to assess how the issues concerning students and emigration may impact their estimates and projections.

Annex A – User engagement

Our review was based on desk research of published material as well as written submissions we received from users. We also carried out stakeholder engagement in the form of interviews and focus groups. We spoke to users from a range of different backgrounds including:

- ONS statisticians working on population statistics
- ONS statisticians working on migration statistics
- Home Office statisticians working on migration statistics
- Statisticians in the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government
- Representatives from the Countryside Charity Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE)
- Representatives from several local areas including Guildford, Greater London, Oxfordshire, Warwickshire and the Wirral. These representatives had a range of backgrounds from town planning to working in local government.
- Opinions Research Services
- Population specialists in academia
- Expert demographers